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individual and official capacities as 
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Falls Community College; 
GREGORY ROBERTS, in his 
individual and official capacities as 
Associate Dean of Student Services at 
Spokane Falls Community College;  
HEATHER McKENZIE , in her 
individual and official capacities as 
Director of Student Funded Programs 
at Spokane Falls Community College, 

Defendants. 
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Plaintiff Beth C. Sheeran, by and through counsel, and for her Verified 

Complaint against Patty Shea, Don Cox, Greg Bever, Ben Cabildo, Carol Landa-

McVicker, trustees of Washington State Community College District 17, the 

Community Colleges of Spokane; Gary Livingston, Chancellor of the 

Community Colleges of Spokane; Mark Palek, President of Spokane Falls 

Community College; Gregory Roberts, Associate Dean of Student Services at 

Spokane Falls Community College; and Heather McKenzie, Director of Student 

Funded Programs at Spokane Falls Community College, hereby states as follows: 

INTRODUCTION  

1. The hallmark of a free society is the ability of people to express their 

ideas without government restraint.  Nowhere is this freedom more necessary 

than on America’s public college campuses—the marketplace of ideas.  

However, Washington State Community College District 17, the Community 

Colleges of Spokane (the District), as well as Spokane Falls Community College 

(the College), systematically prohibits religious and political student speech that 

is outside the campus political mainstream.   

2. This case arises from the efforts and policies of a public community 

college, through its officials, to restrict the expressive rights of its students and 

student organizations.  The District, as a public institution of higher learning, is 

bound by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution to refrain from 

infringing on the free speech rights of those it educates.  Instead, the Defendants 

in this case have engaged in unlawful censorship.  Through a series of 

unconstitutional policies and practices, they have attempted to suppress 

constitutionally protected expression on campus simply because that expression 

offended the sensitivities of some.  

3. When Plaintiff Beth Sheeran and the Spokane Falls Christian 

Fellowship (SFCF) wanted to hold a pro-life event at the College on the 

anniversary of Roe v. Wade, Defendants refused to allow the event.  Defendants 
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told Ms. Sheeran and SFCF that their pro-life display was “offensive” and 

“discriminatory,” and said that they were required to also present the opposite 

point of view during the event.  Even after the anniversary date passed, when Ms. 

Sheeran and SFCF persisted in requesting permission to hold the event, 

Defendants told them it was “biased” and that if they held the event they could be 

expelled from the College for “discriminating” or “offending” someone.   

4. The violation of Ms. Sheeran’s First Amendment rights is a 

symptom of a systemic problem in the District.  By policy and practice, the 

District, the College, and officials thereof are violating the free speech and 

expression rights of each and every student on campus. The District, acting 

through its trustees and chancellor, has implemented a District-wide Orwellian 

speech code that is vague, overbroad, viewpoint discriminatory, and a prior 

restraint on student speech.  The College, acting through Defendants Mark Palek, 

Gregory Roberts, and Heather McKenzie, enforces the District speech code and 

censors religious and pro-life speech by students.  This speech code is enforced, 

in part, through a system of reporting that encourages students to file complaints 

about their fellow students whenever those students utter words or engage in 

actions deemed subjectively “offensive,” “biased,” or “harassing.”  These 

policies are challenged on their face and as applied to Ms. Sheeran. 

5. To remedy these constitutional violations and to put an end to the 

ongoing harm Defendants are causing, Ms. Sheeran seeks declaratory and 

injunctive relief invalidating and prohibiting the enforcement of each of the 

policies comprising the District’s and the College’s speech code, and seeks 

damages for the chilling and deprivation of her First Amendment rights by the 

College’s censorship of her protected speech.  Defendants’ policies and actions 

have deprived and will continue to deprive Ms. Sheeran of her paramount rights 

and guarantees under the United States Constitution. 
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6. Each and every act of Defendants alleged herein was committed by 

Defendants, each and every one of them, under the color of state law and 

authority. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE  

7. This action raises federal questions under the United States 

Constitution, particularly the First and Fourteenth Amendments, and the Civil 

Rights Act of 1871, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988. 

8. This Court has original jurisdiction over the federal claims by 

operation of 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343.   

9. This Court has authority to grant the requested declaratory relief 

under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, the requested injunctive relief under 28 

U.S.C. § 1343(a)(3-4), the requested damages under 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(4), and 

attorneys’ fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b).   

10. Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the Eastern 

District of Washington under 28 U.S.C. § 1391, because the events giving rise to 

the claims occurred in this District, and because at least one Defendant resides in 

this District. 

PLAINTIFF  

11. Plaintiff Beth C. Sheeran is, and was at all times relevant to this 

Verified Complaint, a resident of Cheney, Washington, and a student at the 

College pursuing an associate of arts degree. 

DEFENDANTS 

12. Defendant Patty Shea is, and was at all times relevant to this 

Complaint, Chair and a member of the District Board of Trustees.  In her official 

capacity as a member of the Board of Trustees, Shea is responsible for adopting 

rules and regulations pursuant to Wash. Rev. Code §§ 28B.50.100, 28B.50.140, 

and Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-01-006 that govern the District, including rules 

and regulations that govern student conduct.  Defendant Shea acted under color 
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of state law when she violated Ms. Sheeran’s First and Fourteenth Amendment 

rights.  She is sued in her individual and official capacities. 

13. Defendant Don Cox is, and was at all times relevant to this 

Complaint, a member of the District Board of Trustees.  In his official capacity as 

a member of the Board of Trustees, Cox is responsible for adopting rules and 

regulations pursuant to Wash. Rev. Code §§ 28B.50.100, 28B.50.140, and Wash. 

Admin. Code § 132Q-01-006 that govern the District, including rules and 

regulations that govern student conduct.  Defendant Cox acted under color of 

state law when he violated Ms. Sheeran’s First and Fourteenth Amendment 

rights.  He is sued in his individual and official capacities. 

14. Defendant Greg Bever is, and was at all times relevant to this 

Complaint, a member of the District Board of Trustees.  In his official capacity as 

a member of the Board of Trustees, Bever is responsible for adopting rules and 

regulations pursuant to Wash. Rev. Code §§ 28B.50.100, 28B.50.140, and Wash. 

Admin. Code § 132Q-01-006 that govern the District, including rules and 

regulations that govern student conduct.  Defendant Bever acted under color of 

state law when he violated Ms. Sheeran’s First and Fourteenth Amendment 

rights.  He is sued in his individual and official capacities. 

15. Defendant Ben Cabildo is, and was at all times relevant to this 

Complaint, a member of the District Board of Trustees.  In his official capacity as 

a member of the Board of Trustees, Cabildo is responsible for adopting rules and 

regulations pursuant to Wash. Rev. Code §§ 28B.50.100, 28B.50.140, and Wash. 

Admin. Code § 132Q-01-006 that govern the District, including rules and 

regulations that govern student conduct.  Defendant Cabildo acted under color of 

state law when he violated Ms. Sheeran’s First and Fourteenth Amendment 

rights.  He is sued in his individual and official capacities. 

16. Defendant Carol Landa-McVicker is, and was at all times relevant to 

this Complaint, a member of the District Board of Trustees.  In her official 
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capacity as a member of the Board of Trustees, Landa-McVicker is responsible 

for adopting rules and regulations pursuant to Wash. Rev. Code §§ 28B.50.100, 

28B.50.140, and Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-01-006 that govern the District, 

including rules and regulations that govern student conduct.  Defendant Landa-

McVicker acted under color of state law when she violated Ms. Sheeran’s First 

and Fourteenth Amendment rights.  She is sued in her individual and official 

capacities. 

17. Defendant Gary Livingston is, and was at all times relevant to this 

Complaint, Chancellor of the District.  In his official capacity as Chancellor, 

Livingston is responsible for interpreting Board of Trustees policy and 

administering and operating the District in accordance with those policies, state 

law, and the rules and policies of the State Board for Community and Technical 

Colleges.  Defendant Livingston acted under color of state law when he violated 

Ms. Sheeran’s First and Fourteenth Amendment rights.  He is sued in his 

individual and official capacities.   

18. Defendant Mark Palek is, and was at all times relevant to this 

Complaint, President of the College, a public community college within the 

District.  Defendant Palek’s duties include the oversight of the College, the 

execution of policies and regulations that govern the College, and decision-

making concerning student conduct discipline.  Defendant Palek acted under 

color of state law when he violated Ms. Sheeran’s First and Fourteenth 

Amendment rights.  He is sued in his individual and official capacities. 

19. Defendant Gregory Roberts is, and was at all times relevant to this 

Complaint, Associate Dean of Student Services at the College.  Defendant 

Roberts’ duties include oversight of student life and student organization 

activities, the execution of policies and regulations that govern the College, and 

decision-making concerning student conduct discipline.  Defendant Roberts acted 
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under color of state law when he violated Ms. Sheeran’s First and Fourteenth 

Amendment rights.  He is sued in his individual and official capacities. 

20. Defendant Heather McKenzie is, and was at all times relevant to this 

Complaint, Director of Student Funded Programs at the College.  Defendant 

McKenzie’s duties include providing advice, assistance, and information to 

students and student organizations regarding State, District and College policies 

and procedures, and ensuring compliance with these policies and procedures.  

Defendant McKenzie acted under color of state law when she violated Ms. 

Sheeran’s First and Fourteenth Amendment rights.  She is sued in her individual 

and official capacities.   

FACTUAL BACKGROUND  

I. Unlawful Censorship of Ms. Sheeran’s Speech 

21. Ms. Sheeran is a Christian and, as a tenet of her faith, she shares her 

beliefs about Christianity with others, particularly, her fellow students.  Ms. 

Sheeran believes sharing her beliefs about Christianity is a religious duty.   

22. In an effort to comply with her duty to share her Christian beliefs 

with others, Ms. Sheeran looks for opportunities to speak with other students 

about her faith.  Sometimes this occurs between classes among friends and fellow 

students, and sometimes during appropriate class opportunities.  Ms. Sheeran 

often discusses her faith and how it applies to guide her views on political, social, 

and cultural issues and events. 

23. Ms. Sheeran is also pro-life and believes that abortion is the great 

moral issue of our time.  She seeks to inform others, including people on the 

College campus, of her pro-life views and to foster respect for human life in her 

community. 

24. Ms. Sheeran is part of SFCF and associates with them in 

coordinating activities and events on campus.  SFCF seeks to develop Christian 
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fellowship on campus, spread the gospel, and share Christian views on important 

cultural issues with other College students on campus.   

25. At the beginning of the winter 2009 semester, Ms. Sheeran and the 

SFCF president decided to hold a pro-life event on campus on the anniversary of 

Roe v. Wade, January 22, 2009.  They planned to reserve space in a display case 

of the College’s student center.  In the display case, they planned to post facts 

about abortion and provide students with a pro-life viewpoint on the topic.  They 

also planned to hand out flyers to willing recipients in the outdoor areas of 

campus.  Copies of the documents they planned to post in the student center 

display case and hand out to students are attached as Exhibit 1 to this Complaint. 

26. On information and belief, other student clubs at the College 

regularly use the student center display case to express their viewpoints on 

various cultural, social, political and religious issues.  These other displays 

included, but were not limited to, the following topics:  art, cultural themes, Bible 

verses and a cross, “coming out”/homosexuality, photography, and a local food 

bank.   

27. The display case is a public forum for student speech. 

28. On information and belief, student club events espousing particular 

viewpoints on various cultural, social, political and religious issues regularly 

occur on campus without censorship from College officials. 

29. The campuses of the District are a public forum for student speech. 

30. On or about January 11, 2009, Ms. Sheeran submitted a timely 

request on behalf of SFCF to reserve the display case, and submitted the fliers to 

the student government president for review.   

31. On or about January 14, 2009, Defendant McKenzie and the College 

student government president informed SFCF and Ms. Sheeran that they could 

not hold the event because it was too one-sided and that they would need to place 

“pro-abortion” information next to their pro-life expression.  McKenzie said there 

Case 2:09-cv-00069-EFS      Document 1       Filed 03/09/2009



 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT – 8 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

is a College policy that prohibits one-sided events and expressive displays from 

occurring on campus.   

32. Defendant McKenzie also told Ms. Sheeran that if she and the group 

held the event, they could be disciplined according to the provisions of the 

Student Conduct Code. 

33. On information and belief, Defendant McKenzie also told SFCF’s 

president that Washington is a “pro-choice” state, so SFCF could not use state 

money for “non-pro-choice” speech events.   

34. On or about January 15, 2009, Ms. Sheeran met with Defendant 

McKenzie to discuss the display case and McKenzie’s concerns.  During the 

meeting, Ms. Sheeran described the pro-life event to Defendant McKenzie.  

Defendant McKenzie told Ms. Sheeran that a student club on a state college 

campus cannot hand out pro-life fliers or post pro-life materials in the display 

case because the clubs are sponsored by the state.   

35. SFCF is an independent, unincorporated expressive student 

organization at the College and is not a state entity.   

36. Defendant McKenzie also told Ms. Sheeran that the pro-life event 

was discriminatory, one-sided and hateful, and that it would violate college 

policy and state law.   

37. Defendant McKenzie stated that the event was “biased” according to 

college policies because it did not include pro-abortion information. 

38. Ms. Sheeran asked Defendant McKenzie what policies or laws she 

was referring to, and McKenzie stated that she was too busy to provide copies.   

39. Defendant McKenzie also said that the pro-life documents to be 

posted with the event were discriminatory and could be construed as racist, 

because of their citation to statistics indicating the large numbers of babies from 

certain ethnic groups who are aborted each year. 
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40. Defendant McKenzie also told Ms. Sheeran that every student club 

event must present both sides of a debate and that the District and College do not 

allow clubs to engage in advocacy from one point of view.   

41. Ms. Sheeran asked Defendant McKenzie about a Guantanamo Bay 

protest that was allowed to occur on campus.  The protest involved a student 

sitting bound and blindfolded on a campus sidewalk all day.  In response, 

Defendant McKenzie said it was an “educational awareness” event. 

42. On information and belief, the College has permitted materials to be 

posted in the student center display case supporting many topics, without 

requiring that an opposing point of view be posted simultaneously.   

43. On information and belief, on October 8, 2008, the College 

permitted the Alliance Club to hold on an event on campus called “Coming Out 

As an Ally: Why Communities of Faith Must Step Up.”  The event featured a 

clergyman and advocated a pro-homosexual religious viewpoint.  No opposing 

viewpoint was included in the event.  A copy of the College’s events calendar 

listing the event and the event description are attached as Exhibit 2 to this 

Complaint. 

44. On information and belief, on February 9, 2009, the College 

permitted the French Club to hold an event on campus called “Localism Teach-

in.”  The event advocated “Slow Food, Co-ops, Sustainable Agriculture, and 

Farmers Markets” because of the “food/climate change connection.”  No 

opposing viewpoint was included in the event.  A copy of the College’s events 

calendar listing the French Club event and the event description are attached as 

Exhibit 3 to this Complaint. 

45. On information and belief, on February 13, 2009, the College 

permitted the Associated Women Students of the College to hold a performance 

of “The Vagina Monologues” on campus.  “The Vagina Monologues” is an 

ideologically charged, controversial play.  It includes explicit sexual content and 
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explicit language.   No opposing viewpoint was included in the event.  (See 

College’s events calendar, attached as Exhibit 3.) 

46. On information and belief, on March 5, 2009, the College permitted 

an event on campus called “The J-Spot Lecture: Jay Friedman.”  Mr. Friedman 

speaks to college students about sexual technique and political and cultural 

attitudes toward sexual activity.  No opposing viewpoint was included in the 

event.  A copy of the College’s events calendar listing “The J-Spot Lecture” and 

a description of the lecture are attached as Exhibit 4 to this Complaint. 

47. After Defendant McKenzie stated at the January 15 meeting with 

Ms. Sheeran that SFCF could not place their desired materials in the display case, 

Ms. Sheeran asked if SFCF could distribute the flier containing the statistics 

about abortion on campus.  Defendant McKenzie said they could not.   

48. Ms. Sheeran asked Defendant McKenzie why the College was 

prohibiting her speech, and McKenzie responded that her speech was 

“discriminatory.”   

49. Defendant McKenzie threatened Ms. Sheeran and SFCF members 

with formal College discipline if SFCF held the pro-life event.   

50. Ms. Sheeran and SFCF did not hold the event for fear of discipline 

by the Defendants.   

51. After the January 15, 2009, meeting between Ms. Sheeran and 

Defendant McKenzie, SFCF’s faculty advisor, Ms. Stormy Kurtz, told Ms. 

Sheeran that SFCF should not do the pro-life event and should instead hold a 

debate.   

52. On or about February 2, 2009, Ms. Sheeran met with Defendant 

Roberts about holding the pro-life event.  Defendant Roberts told Ms. Sheeran 

that she and SFCF could hold the event and pass out the fliers so long as SFCF 

members voted to have the event.   
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53. After meeting with Defendant Roberts, Ms. Sheeran saw Defendant 

McKenzie in the building.  Ms. Sheeran asked McKenzie if the SFCF members 

could be disciplined if someone was offended by the pro-life event.  McKenzie 

said no, but told Ms. Sheeran that the SFCF flier was “wrong” because not all 

Christians hold the same view that abortion is wrong, and that SFCF was not 

representing all Christians. 

54. On or about February 3, 2009, SFCF voted to hold the pro-life event.   

55. On or about February 4, 2009, Ms. Kurtz and Defendants Roberts 

and McKenzie attended a regularly scheduled SFCF meeting to convince SFCF 

to not hold the pro-life event.   

56. Ms. Kurtz, a professor of English at the College and SFCF faculty 

advisor, told Ms. Sheeran and SFCF members that the pro-life event was biased, 

discriminatory, violated the District’s Stop the Hate policy and state law, and if 

SFCF held the event, all the members could be punished under District policy 

and even expelled from school.  

57. Ms. Kurtz distributed two documents from the District’s Stop the 

Hate program and said that if the SFCF students and Ms. Sheeran offended 

someone, they could be punished under this program and its policies.  One 

document is entitled “The Details” and states that “[a] bias incident . . . is an act 

of conduct, speech or expression to which a bias motive . . . is evident as a 

contributing factor regardless of whether the act is criminal.”  The other 

document, entitled “Pyramid of Hate,” defines acts of bias as “stereotyping, 

jokes, rumors, justifying biases by seeking out like-minded people, accepting 

negative information, screening out positive information, insensitive remarks and 

non-inclusive language.”  Copies of the Stop the Hate policy documents 

distributed by Ms. Kurtz are attached as Exhibit 5 to this Complaint. 

58. These documents were also the basis for Defendant McKenzie’s 

earlier statement in ¶¶36-37 to Ms. Sheeran that their speech was “biased” and 
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“discriminatory.”  One of the reasons was that their pro-life speech did not 

include any positive information about abortion. 

59. Ms. Kurtz also showed Ms. Sheeran and the other students a copy of 

Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-30-242 and told them that they would violate this 

discrimination policy if they conducted the event.  Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-

30-242 is the District’s policy on “discrimination” and is part of the Standards of 

Conduct for Students.  Section 132Q-30-242 contains the following statement:   

Discrimination on the basis of race, national or ethnic origin, creed, age, 
sex, marital status, veteran’s status, sexual orientation, or disability is 
prohibited in conformity with federal and state laws. Discrimination 
includes sexual or racial harassment which is defined as conduct that is:  

(1) Sexually or racially motivated and has the purpose or effect of 
unreasonably interfering with a person’s work or educational performance; 
and/or  

(2) Creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive environment. 

60. Ms. Kurtz also told the students that if SFCF held the event and if 

any other student was “offended,” then the students in SFCF could be disciplined.  

Ms. Kurtz also asked the students, “You don’t want to be expelled, do you?”   

61. Ms. Kurtz also said the flier created by Ms. Sheeran for the SFCF 

pro-life event was “offensive.”   

62. Ms. Kurtz instructed the students that she could not tell them not to 

hand out the fliers, but that if the students did, there could be consequences.  Ms. 

Kurtz told the students that they are part of a community that has rules and they 

should respect those rules. 

63. Defendants Roberts and McKenzie were in the room while Ms. 

Kurtz was speaking and did nothing to refute her threats or ensure the students’ 

free speech rights would be protected if they held the pro-life event.   
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64. As a result of Defendants Roberts’ and McKenzie’s actions and the 

District’s and College’s policies, Ms. Sheeran and SFCF have not been able to 

hold their pro-life event on campus for fear of discipline under District and 

College policies.   

II.  The District’s Speech-Repressive Policies 

65. Pursuant to Wash. Admin. Code § 131-12-050, the District 

promulgates, adopts and publishes rules defining and establishing student rights 

and responsibilities, including freedom of expression, petition, press, assembly 

and association; use and maintenance of records and campus facilities; 

disciplinary hearing and appeal procedures; and disciplinary sanctions.   

66. The District’s Board of Trustees, all Defendants herein, are 

responsible for promulgating, adopting and publishing rules governing student 

rights and responsibilities.   

67. Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-01-006 and District Board Policy 

2.10.01 charge Defendant Livingston with developing District administrative 

procedures that implement Board of Trustees policies.   

68. The District’s student rights and responsibilities policies are 

published in Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-30 et seq.  They are also republished in 

the College’s Student Code of Conduct.  A copy of the College’s Student Code of 

Conduct is attached as Exhibit 6 to this Complaint.   

69. Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-07-020 states that “[s]tudents shall 

have the right of ‘assembly’ upon college facilities that are generally available to 

the public.” 

70. Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-30-212 states that “[s]tudents have the 

right to freedom of speech, including the right to dissent or protest, but this 

expression may not interfere with the rights of other members of CCS [the 

District] or disrupt college activities.”   
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A. Prior restraint on student literature distribution 

71. Pursuant to Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-07-040, the District allows 

the distribution of student handbills, leaflets, newspapers, and similarly related 

material only with prior approval by the appropriate student center administrator.   

72. On information and belief, Defendants Palek, Roberts, and 

McKenzie are responsible for enforcing the student rights and responsibilities, 

including Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-07-040, at the College. 

73. Defendant McKenzie applied Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-07-040 to 

Ms. Sheeran and SFCF when she refused to approve their pro-life fliers for the 

event.   

B. Compelled speech and prior restraint  

on expressive activities by students 

74. Students and their student organizations may hold expressive 

activities on campus that include outside speakers, but according to Wash. 

Admin. Code § 132Q-07-030(1), they must obtain prior written approval from 

their advisor.  In addition, the scheduling of speakers shall be made through the 

facilities scheduling office of the campus at which the speaker will appear, with 

prior approval from the appropriate college student activities office.  (See Wash. 

Admin. Code § 132Q-07-030(3).)   

75. Moreover, students and student organizations must notify the student 

activities office at least thirty days prior to the appearance of an invited speaker, 

and must include the signature of the sponsoring organization’s advisor.  

Exceptions to the thirty-day ruling may be made by the appropriate administrator.  

(See Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-07-030(4).)   

76. The District’s policy states that the student activities office may also 

require a question period or arrange to have views other than those of the invited 

speakers represented at the meeting, or at a subsequent meeting.  (See Wash. 

Admin. Code § 132Q-07-030(5).)  
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77. Defendants Palek, Roberts, and McKenzie are responsible for 

enforcing the Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-07-030 at the College. 

C. The District’s speech code 

78. The District also prohibits and punishes any speech subjectively 

deemed “discriminatory” and “offensive.”  Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-30-242 

states “[d]iscrimination includes sexual or racial harassment which is defined as 

conduct that is: (1) Sexually or racially motivated and has the purpose or effect of 

unreasonably interfering with a person's work or educational performance; and/or 

(2) [c]reating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive environment.”   

79. Students who violate this policy are subject to discipline.  (See 

Wash. Admin. Code § 132Q-30-101(2); Compl. Ex. 6 at 21). 

80. Board Policy 3.30.01 states that “[s]tudents shall be provided an 

environment free from any form of discrimination or harassment directed to any 

individual or group on the basis of race, color, sex, religion, creed, age, marital 

status, national origin, sexual orientation, disability, or veteran status.”  A copy of 

Board Policy 3.30.01 is attached as Exhibit 7 to this Complaint. 

81. District Administrative Procedure 3.30.01-A contains the following 

statement:  

Discrimination and harassment includes sexual or racial harassment which 
is defined as conduct that is:   

2.1 Sexually or racially motivated and has the purpose or effect of 
unreasonably interfering with a person’s work or educational 
performance.   

2.2 Creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive environment.   

2.3 Conduct by any means that is sufficiently severe, pervasive, or 
persistent so as to threaten an individual or limit the individual’s 
ability to work, study, or participate in the activities of the college. 
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None of these terms are defined.  District Administrative Procedure 3.30.01-A 

references District Administrative Policy 2.30.01-A as related information.  A 

copy of District Administrative Procedure 3.30.01-A is attached as Exhibit 8 to 

this Complaint. 

82. District Administrative Procedure 2.30.01-A contains the following 

definitions of sexual harassment and discrimination: 

Prohibited harassment shall include, but will not be limited to verbal and 
written comments, slurs, jokes, innuendos, cartoons, pranks and any and all 
other physical or nonphysical conduct or activity that can be construed as 
derogatory, intimidating, hostile or offensive and which is directed at the 
victim because of his/her membership in, association with or presumption 
of membership or association with the following: race, color, sex, religion, 
creed, age, marital status, national origin, sexual orientation, disability, 
political affiliation and veteran status; or any behavior or action, either 
physical or verbal, which is sexual in nature and unwelcome, unwanted or 
uninvited. 

None of these terms are defined.  A copy of District Administrative Procedure 

2.30.01-A is attached as Exhibit 9 to this Complaint. 

83. The District and the College also operate a program called “Stop the 

Hate.”   

84. Defendants Roberts is the chair of the Stop the Hate committee at 

the College.   

85. Defendant McKenzie is a member of the Stop the Hate committee at 

the College.   

86. The College’s Stop the Hate program is a mechanism to respond to 

so-called “bias incidents” and/or hate crimes on the campus. 

87. Defendants Roberts and McKenzie enforce District policy with 

respect to “bias” on campus through the Stop the Hate program.   

88. The District and College define “bias” as “an act of conduct, speech 

or expression to which a bias motive (relating to race, religion, disability status, 

Case 2:09-cv-00069-EFS      Document 1       Filed 03/09/2009



 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT – 17 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

ethnicity/national origin, gender or sexual orientation) is evident as a contributing 

factor regardless of whether the act is criminal.”  None of these terms are defined.  

(See Ex. 5.) 

89. Defendants encourage students to report “bias” and “hate” they 

witness on campus by filing a District form entitled “Report It!”  A copy of the 

District’s “Report It!” form is attached as Exhibit 10 to this Complaint. 

90. Depending on the incident reported, the College’s Bias Incident 

Response Team will determine “an appropriate course of action,” which may 

include notifying the police, the Vice President of Student Services at the 

College, or campus security. 

91. The Stop the Hate program is a District wide policy and program 

implemented by the Board of Trustees, all defendants herein, and Defendant 

Livingston. 

92. Defendants Palek, Roberts, and McKenzie and Ms. Kurtz applied 

these policies to Ms. Sheeran’s and SFCF’s pro-life event, calling the event 

“discriminatory,” “offensive,” “biased,” and “racist.”   

93. College officials use the speech code, prior restraints, and Stop the 

Hate policies to silence student club events they do not favor, but do not apply 

the same policies to those events they do favor. 

94. Ms. Sheeran and SFCF cannot express their pro-life message on 

campus because they fear discipline and expulsion under the District’s policies.   

95. The Defendants actions and policies have had a chilling effect on 

Ms. Sheeran’s First Amendment right to freedom of speech.   

96. Defendants, acting under color of state law, have deprived Ms. 

Sheeran and all students in SFCF of their First Amendment right to free speech 

and their Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process of law and equal 

protection under law. 
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of Plaintiff’s First Amendment Right to F reedom of Speech 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

97. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations in 

this Complaint.  

98. By prohibiting Ms. Sheeran and SFCF from holding their pro-life 

event on campus, refusing to allow them to distribute pro-life fliers, placing a 

prior restraint on their distribution of literature and holding of events, threatening 

to punish them under the District’s speech code, silencing their pro-life message, 

requiring students to advocate a view contrary to their own, and chilling their 

right to free speech, among other things, Defendants, acting under color of state 

law and according to policy and practice, have explicitly and implicitly 

discriminated against Ms. Sheeran based on the content and viewpoint of her 

speech, chilled her free expression, compelled her to expresses messages with 

which she disagrees, and deprived her of her clearly established rights to freedom 

of speech and expression secured by the First Amendment to the United States 

Constitution.   

99. Because of Defendants’ policies and actions, Ms. Sheeran has 

suffered, and continues to suffer, economic injury and irreparable harm.  She, 

therefore, is entitled to an award of monetary damages, including punitive 

damages, and equitable relief. 

100. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, Ms. Sheeran is entitled to a 

declaration that Defendants violated her First Amendment rights and an 

injunction against their actions.  Additionally, Ms. Sheeran is entitled to damages 

in an amount to be determined by the evidence and this Court, and the reasonable 

costs of this lawsuit, including her reasonable attorneys’ fees.   
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of Plaintiff’s First and Fourteenth Amendment Rights to Freedom 

of Expression and Due Process of Law (42 U.S.C. § 1983) – Speech Code 

101. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations in 

this Complaint. 

102. The District’s and College’s speech code outlined in this Complaint 

conditions compliance with Washington Administrative Code, Board Policies, 

District Administrative Procedures, and College policies and programs on the 

subjective emotional experience of the listener, and limits and prohibits 

constitutionally protected speech without providing any objective guidelines by 

which students such as Ms. Sheeran can guide their behavior, or by which 

administrators may objectively and precisely apply the policies. 

103. The vagueness and overbreadth of these policies has the effect of 

chilling the speech of students on District campuses, such as Ms. Sheeran. 

104. The District’s speech code is both vague and overbroad and has 

therefore deprived Ms. Sheeran of her clearly established right of due process of 

law guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment and her clearly established right to 

freedom of expression guaranteed by the First Amendment. 

105. Because of Defendants’ policies and actions, Ms. Sheeran has 

suffered, and continues to suffer, economic injury and irreparable harm.  She, 

therefore, is entitled to an award of monetary damages, including punitive 

damages, and equitable relief. 

106. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, Ms. Sheeran is entitled to a 

declaration that Defendants violated her First and Fourteenth Amendment rights 

and an injunction against their actions.  Additionally, Ms. Sheeran is entitled to 

damages in an amount to be determined by the evidence and this Court, and the 

reasonable costs of this lawsuit, including her reasonable attorneys’ fees. 
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of Plaintiff’s Fourteenth Amendment Right  

to Equal Protection Under Law (42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

107. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each of the foregoing allegations in 

this Complaint. 

108. By prohibiting Ms. Sheeran and SFCF from holding their pro-life 

event on campus, refusing to allow them to distribute pro-life fliers, placing a 

prior restraint on their distribution of literature and holding of events, threatening 

to punish them under the District’s speech code, silencing their pro-life message, 

and chilling their right to free speech, among other things, Defendants, acting 

under color of state law and according to policy and practice, have explicitly and 

implicitly discriminated against Ms. Sheeran based on the content and viewpoint 

of her speech, treated her differently than similarly situated students because of 

her membership in a protected class and because of her exercise of fundamental 

rights, and have therefore deprived Ms. Sheeran of her clearly established right to 

equal protection under law as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution. 

109. Because of Defendants’ policies and actions, Ms. Sheeran has 

suffered, and continues to suffer, economic injury and irreparable harm.  She, 

therefore, is entitled to an award of monetary damages, including punitive 

damages, and equitable relief. 

110. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, Ms. Sheeran is entitled to a 

declaration that Defendants violated her Fourteenth Amendment rights and an 

injunction against their actions.  Additionally, Ms. Sheeran is entitled to damages 

in an amount to be determined by the evidence and this Court, and the reasonable 

costs of this lawsuit, including her reasonable attorneys’ fees. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Beth C. Sheeran respectfully requests trial by jury and 

the following relief: 

A) A preliminary and permanent injunction against the Defendants, their 

agents, servants, employees, officials, or any other person acting in 

concert with them or on their behalf, invalidating and restraining them 

from enforcing customs, procedures, codes, practices and/or policies as 

they pertain to the conduct made the subject of this Verified Complaint, 

specifically the discussed portions of Wash. Admin. Code §§ 132Q-07-

030(3-5) (outside speakers), 132Q-07-040 (literature distribution), 132Q-

30-242 (discrimination and harassment); District Board Policy 3.30.01 

(discrimination and harassment); District Administrative Procedures 

3.30.01-A(2.0) (discrimination and harassment) and 2.30.01-A(1.1) 

(discrimination and harassment); and the District’s Stop the Hate policies 

contained in Complaint Exhibits 5 & 10, or that in any way discriminate 

against Ms. Sheeran on the basis of his viewpoint or the content of her 

expression, or because of her membership in a protected class or exercise 

of fundamental rights; 

B) A preliminary and permanent injunction prohibiting the Defendants and 

their agents from excluding Ms. Sheeran’s pro-life speech event from 

occurring on campus; 

C) A declaration stating that the conduct of Defendants and Defendants’ 

policies restricting speech on campuses within the District, specifically 

the discussed portions of Wash. Admin. Code §§ 132Q-07-030(3-5) 

(outside speakers), 132Q-07-040 (literature distribution), 132Q-30-242 

(discrimination and harassment); District Board Policy 3.30.01 

(discrimination and harassment); District Administrative Procedures 

3.30.01-A(2.0) (discrimination and harassment) and 2.30.01-A(1.1) 
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(discrimination and harassment); and the District’s Stop the Hate policies 

contained in Complaint Exhibits 5 & 10, are unconstitutional both 

facially and as applied to Ms. Sheeran under the First and Fourteenth 

Amendments; 

D) A declaration stating that the conduct of Defendants and Defendants’ 

policies restricting Ms. Sheeran’s pro-life speech event are 

unconstitutional under the First and Fourteenth Amendments; 

E) That this Court adjudge, decree, and declare the rights and other legal 

relations with the subject matter here in controversy, in order that such 

declaration shall have the force and effect of final judgment;  

F) An award of compensatory and/or nominal damages to Ms. Sheeran 

against the individual defendants in the amount of five thousand dollars 

($5,000.00); 

G) An award of punitive damages to Ms. Sheeran against the individual 

defendants for their actions in violating her First Amendment right to 

freedom of speech and Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process and 

equal protection under law; 

H) Ms. Sheeran’s reasonable costs and expenses of this action, including 

attorneys’ fees, in accordance with 42 U.S.C. § 1988; 

I) All other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper; and 

J) That this Court retain jurisdiction of this matter for the purpose of 

enforcing this Court’s orders. 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 
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Respectfully submitted this 9th day of March, 2009.     
  

By: /s/Jeffrey R. Smith 

 JEFFREY R. SMITH , WA Bar No. 37460 
Local Counsel for Plaintiff 
THE SMITH LAW GROUP, PLLC 
1318 West College Avenue, Suite 100 
Spokane, Washington 99201 
Telephone: (509) 252-5057 
Fax: (509) 252-9703 
Email: jrsmith@smithlawgroup.net 
 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL  

Plaintiff demands trial by jury of all matters so triable herein.   

By: /s/Jeffrey R. Smith   
JEFFREY R. SMITH  
Attorney for Plaintiff 
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WE Protest: 

Today we are representing the one third of our generation that has been 

denied the right to life. We protest because their lives were silenced, their bodies 

discarded and their numbers forgotten. 

 

What you are not being told…….. 

9 out of every 10 Down Syndrome children are aborted in the United States. 

 (New York Times. May 9, 2007) 

About 20% of all abortions taking place in the USA today are performed on teenage girls. 

(physiciansforlife.org) 

One out of every two African American Pregnancies ends in abortion.  

(Washington Times. August 25, 2008) 

Female feticide, along with female infanticide, has caused the death of an estimated   

60 million girls in Asia alone.  

 (Fox News. June 13, 2007) 

 

 

 

 
 

 

We hold these truths to be self-evident, that all men are created equal and that they are    

endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable rights, and that among these are 

LIFE, LIBERTY and the PURSUIT of HAPPINESS….. 

(Declaration of Independence of the United States of America) 
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              The poor:                      

The abortion rate among women living below  

the federal poverty level is more than four times that of women with greater means 

(Guttmacher Institute. Sept 23, 2008) 

                   Women :                                  

Female feticide, along with female infanticide, has caused the death of an estimated   60 million 
girls in Asia alone  
    (Fox News. June 13,2007) 

 
 
TEENAGERS 
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What You are NOT 

being told.. 
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Disabled : 
9 out of every 10 Down Syndrome children are 

aborted in the United States 

 

(New York Times. May 9, 2007) 
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African American: 
One out of every two African American Pregnancies 

ends in abortion. 

 

(Washington Times. August 25, 2008) 
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The poor: 

The abortion rate among women living below the federal 
poverty level is more than four times greater than that of 

women with greater means 

 

(Guttmacher Institute. Sept 23, 2008) 
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Asian Girls : 

 

Female feticide, along with female infanticide, has 
caused the death of an estimated 60 million girls in 
Asia alone 

 

     (Fox News. June 13,2007) 
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Teens 
About 20% of all abortions taking place in the USA today are 

performed on teenage girls.  

 

(Post abortion teens are 2 to 4 times more likely to commit suicide than other 
members of society and are nearly 3 times more likely to be admitted to mental 

health hospitals than women in general.) 

(physiciansforlife.org) 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT EXHIBIT 1 - 45

Case 2:09-cv-00069-EFS      Document 1-2       Filed 03/09/2009



We  hold 
TheseTRUTHS 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT EXHIBIT 1 - 46

Case 2:09-cv-00069-EFS      Document 1-2       Filed 03/09/2009



to be 
selfeviden
t, that 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT EXHIBIT 1 - 47

Case 2:09-cv-00069-EFS      Document 1-2       Filed 03/09/2009



ALL men 
are 
created 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT EXHIBIT 1 - 48

Case 2:09-cv-00069-EFS      Document 1-2       Filed 03/09/2009



equal, 
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among 
these are  
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LIFE, 
LIBERTY
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, and the 
PURSUIT 
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of 
HAPPINESS
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(Declaration of 

Independence of the 
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United States of 

America) 
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(http://postabortionsyndrome.org) 
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About SFCC Courses & Programs Admissions/ Registration Student Resources

 SFCC Home  
Academic  Calendar  

Activity  Calendar  

Final  Exam Schedule  

Important  Dates 

What's  Happening  

 
SEARCH SFCC:  

  
 

  

 
Student Resources 
Home  

 Getting Started!  

 Questions?  

 Request Brochures  

 Search/Site Map  

 Quickload Options  

 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS  HOME SPORTS    Previous Week    Next Week  

Monday, October 06, 2008  Time Location

 Community Service ‘EXPO’  9:30 AM - 12:30 PM SUB Lounge AB

 Quichua Mashis - Andean Music Concert 11:30 AM sn-w’ey’mn 
Auditorium (24-110). 

Tuesday, October 07, 2008  Time Location

 Fall Job Fair Sponsored by Career & 
Student Employment

9:00 AM - 1:00 PM SFCC, SUB 17 - 
ABC

 Activities Board  1:30 PM

Wednesday, October 08, 2008  Time Location

 Plan My Schedule Workshop Sponsored by 
The Counseling Department

11:30 AM - 12:30 PM Building 2, Rm. 211

 
Coming Out as an Ally: Why Communities of 
Faith Must Step Up 

11:30 PM - 12:45 PM SUB Lounge AB

 A.S. Concert – John Floridis 11:30 PM Café at The Falls

 Multi Cultural Welcome Reception 11:30 PM SUB Lounge C

Thursday, October 09, 2008  Time Location

 SFCC Blood Drive 10:00 AM - 2:00 PM Outside SUB

 A.S. Series “Views from different wheels” 11:30 AM SUB Lounge A/B

 Senate meeting 1:30 PM

Friday, October 10, 2008  Time Location

 African American Assoc. FISH FRY 11:30 AM - 1:00 PM SUB Lounge C

 Alliance Club  1:00 PM - 2:15 PM SUB VIP room

Saturday, October 11, 2008  Time Location

 No events are scheduled today.

Sunday, October 12, 2008 Time Location

 No events are scheduled today.

 

HOME SPORTS Date/Time Location

 SFCC Volleyball vs. Yakima Valley Wednesday, 10/8/2008 
6:00 PM

SFCC

 SFCC Volleyball vs. Wenatchee Valley 
College

Friday, 10/10/2008 
6:00 PM

SFCC

 SFCC Women’s Soccer vs. Clark 
College

Saturday, 10/11/2008 
12:00 PM

SFCC

 SFCC Volleyball vs. College of 
Southern Idaho

Saturday, 10/11/2008 
7:00 PM

SFCC

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS
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Rideshare

Rideshare is a free computerized ride share matching service offered by Spokane County. 
After completing an online form, Rideshare will match your information with others to find a 
carpool, vanpool, walking or bicycling partner. And, it is completely confidential. Visit the 
Rideshare site for more information.

Addressing Student Concerns

Do you have a problem or concern with faculty or staff? Not sure how to resolve it? SFCC 
has a procedure to help you! Visit the Addressing Student Concerns page for more information. 
Or download the Guidelines for Addressing Student Concerns PDF document.

SPOKANE FALLS COMMUNITY COLLEGE - 3410 W. FORT GEORGE WRIGHT DR. - SPOKANE, WA 99224-5288 
FOR GENERAL INFORMATION CALL: 509-533-3500 OR 888-509-7944 

CONTACT US | WEBMASTER | PRIVACY POLICY  
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Coming Out as an Ally: Why Communities of Faith 
Must Step Up 

Rev. Paul Rodkey of Bethany Presbyterian Church will be our National Coming Out Day speaker.  

Date: 10/8/2008

Time: 11:30 PM

Location: SUB Lounge AB

Close
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About SFCC Courses & Programs Admissions/ Registration Student Resources

 SFCC Home  
Academic  Calendar  

Activity  Calendar  

Final Exam  Schedule  

Important  Dates 

What's  Happening  

 
SEARCH SFCC:  

  
 

  

 
Student Resources 
Home 

 Getting Started!  

 Questions?  

 Request Brochures  

 Search/Site Map  

 Quickload Options  

 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS  HOME SPORTS    Previous Week    Next Week  

Monday, February 09, 2009  Time Location

 Localism Teach-in Sponsored by French 
Club, Theme

11:30 AM - 12:45 PM SUB AB

Tuesday, February 10, 2009  Time Location

 No events are scheduled today.

Wednesday, February 11, 2009  Time Location

 Time Management Workshop Sponsored by 
The Counseling Department

1:30 PM Building 17, Senate 
Chambers

Thursday, February 12, 2009  Time Location

 No events are scheduled today.

Friday, February 13, 2009  Time Location

 Anime Club Film  11:30 AM SUB Lounges AB

 Vagina Monologues  3:00 PM SUB Lounges ABC

 Vagina Monologues  7:30 PM SUB Lounges ABC

Saturday, February 14, 2009  Time Location

 No events are scheduled today.

Sunday, February 15, 2009 Time Location

 No events are scheduled today.

 

HOME SPORTS Date/Time Location

 No Home Sports this week.

 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS

CCS Foundation Scholarship Deadline - March 16, 2009

CCS students are encouraged to apply for a scholarship by completing an application and 
submitting it to the foundation by March 15  each year. To learn more about foundation 
scholarships see the link below: 

http://www.ccs.spokane.edu/Foundation/Scholarships.aspx

For more information, contact Lisa Nispuruk.  
Phone: (509) 434-5122 
Email: lnispuruk@ccs.spokane.edu

Rideshare

Rideshare is a free computerized ride share matching service offered by Spokane County. 
After completing an online form, Rideshare will match your information with others to find a 
carpool, vanpool, walking or bicycling partner. And, it is completely confidential. Visit the 
Rideshare site for more information.
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Addressing Student Concerns

Do you have a problem or concern with faculty or staff? Not sure how to resolve it? SFCC 
has a procedure to help you! Visit the Addressing Student Concerns page for more information. 
Or download the Guidelines for Addressing Student Concerns PDF document.

SPOKANE FALLS COMMUNITY COLLEGE - 3410 W. FORT GEORGE WRIGHT DR. - SPOKANE, WA 99224-5288 
FOR GENERAL INFORMATION CALL: 509-533-3500 OR 888-509-7944 

CONTACT US | WEBMASTER | PRIVACY POLICY  
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Localism Teach-in 

Sponsored by French Club, Theme 
Yes We Can. Build community with free food, free gifts, free knowledge! Local chefs prepare locally-
grown food for us, and while we munch away we’ll learn about the food/global climate change connection 
through supporting Slow Food, Co-ops, Sustainable Agriculture, and Farmers Markets.  

Date: 2/9/2009

Time: 11:30 AM

Location: SUB AB

For more information, contact Elodie Phan 
Phone: 533-3892 
E-mail: elodiep@spokanefalls.edu

Close
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About SFCC Courses & Programs Admissions/ Registration Student Resources

 SFCC Home  
Academic  Calendar  

Activity  Calendar  

Final  Exam Schedule  

Important  Dates 

What's  Happening  

 
SEARCH SFCC:  

  
 

  

 
Student Resources 
Home  

 Getting Started!  

 Questions?  

 Request Brochures  

 Search/Site Map  

 Quickload Options  

 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS  HOME SPORTS    Previous Week    Next Week  

Monday, March 02, 2009  Time Location

 Registration for Bear Creek Lodge 
Snow Tubing Trip  

11:30 AM - 1:30 PM Sub Lounge

 Celebration Week "That takes 
Ovaries"  

11:30 AM SUB Lounges A&B

Tuesday, March 03, 2009  Time Location

 No events are scheduled today.

Wednesday, March 04, 2009  Time Location

 AMS/AWS Relaxation Event  11:30 AM - 1:30 PM Sub Lounges A/B

 Core Book Author Jess Walter 11:30 AM - 12:45 PM sn-w’ey’-mn 110

Thursday, March 05, 2009  Time Location

 "The J-Spot" Lecture-Jay Friedman  11:30 AM Sub Lounges A/B

 SFCC Play "Othello" 7:30 PM Spartan Theatre

Friday, March 06, 2009  Time Location

 Battle of the Sexes - Speech & Debate 
Club  

11:30 AM Sub Lounges A/B

 SFCC Play "Othello" 7:30 PM Spartan Theatre

Saturday, March 07, 2009  Time Location

 SFCC Play "Othello" 7:30 PM Spartan Theatre

Sunday, March 08, 2009 Time Location

 SFCC Play "Othello" 2:00 PM Spartan Theatre

 

HOME SPORTS Date/Time Location

 No Home Sports this week.

 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS

CCS Foundation Scholarship Deadline - March 16, 2009

CCS students are encouraged to apply for a scholarship by completing an application and 
submitting it to the foundation by March 15  each year. To learn more about foundation 
scholarships see the link below: 

http://www.ccs.spokane.edu/Foundation/Scholarships.aspx

For more information, contact Lisa Nispuruk.  
Phone: (509) 434-5122 
Email: lnispuruk@ccs.spokane.edu

Rideshare
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Rideshare is a free computerized ride share matching service offered by Spokane County. 
After completing an online form, Rideshare will match your information with others to find a 
carpool, vanpool, walking or bicycling partner. And, it is completely confidential. Visit the 
Rideshare site for more information.

Addressing Student Concerns

Do you have a problem or concern with faculty or staff? Not sure how to resolve it? SFCC 
has a procedure to help you! Visit the Addressing Student Concerns page for more information. 
Or download the Guidelines for Addressing Student Concerns PDF document.

SPOKANE FALLS COMMUNITY COLLEGE - 3410 W. FORT GEORGE WRIGHT DR. - SPOKANE, WA 99224-5288 
FOR GENERAL INFORMATION CALL: 509-533-3500 OR 888-509-7944 

CONTACT US | WEBMASTER | PRIVACY POLICY  
  

Page 2 of 2What's Happening

3/4/2009http://www.spokanefalls.edu/Resources/WhatsHappening.aspx

VERIFIED COMPLAINT EXHIBIT 4 - 84

Case 2:09-cv-00069-EFS      Document 1-5       Filed 03/09/2009



Stimulating the minds of 
student bodies 
“The J-Spot: A Sex Educator Tells All” is a lecture unlike 

any other. Jay Friedman has his finger on the pulse of sexual 

issues in our society, and tackles the toughest of topics in a 

refreshingly sex-positive way. Time flies as he addresses a 

whirlwind of issues that will get your students thinking and 

talking long after the curtain closes, such as: 

three conditions to meet before having sex 

how to make condoms feel oh-so-much better 

the mysteriously missing sexual organ 

why sex is better in Scandinavia 

“Kegels with your Bagels” 

Personal, philosophical, and prophetic, Jay delivers a “sexual 

state of affairs” address on where we’ve been, where we are, 

and where we’re headed sexually—with the ultimate goal of 

helping everyone enjoy healthy relationships. You get great 

bang for your buck, as Jay entertains while educating about 

the three P’s: 

Prevention of pregnancy, disease and sexual 

violence. 

Pleasure. Jay keeps the lecture positive and wildly 

fun with spine-tingling and sensible tips to increase 

sexual satisfaction.  

Political/cultural climate. Jay doesn’t shy away from 

showing how attitudes in America actually cripple 

people with sexual ignorance while robbing them of 

the pleasure they deserve. 

HOME  | THE SHOW  | THE SPEAKER  | BLOG  | CONTACT  | PRESS KIT  | VIDEOS

You get all these topics 
(and more): 

AIDS/safer sex  

Communication / 
decision-making  

Cultural climate in 
America and beyond  

Dating and 
relationships  

G(ee) spots  

Gender roles and 
differences  

Homophobia  

Rape/sexual violence  

Sex and alcohol  

Tips and techniques 
for romance and 
pleasure 

 

© 2009 Jay Friedman | All Rights Reserved | Design Mountbracken and Campbell  

206-378-0938 | info@JayTalk.com  
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Chapter 3 – Student Services 

3.30.01 Non-discrimination/Anti-harassment 

Students shall be provided an environment free from any form of discrimination or harassment 

directed to any individual or group on the basis of race, color, sex, religion, creed, age, marital 

status, national origin, sexual orientation, disability, or veteran status. 

Students shall use the complaint procedure established under policy 2.30.01 (5). 

[Adopted 07/19/05; effective 01/01/06] 

 

 

3.30.01  Administrative Procedures 

A. Non-discrimination/Anti-harassment   

Page 1 of 1Corporate Site - Community Colleges of Spokane
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CCS Administrative Procedure 
3.30.01-A Non-discrimination / Anti-harassment 
 
Implementing Board Policy 3.30.01 
Contact:  District Academic Services Officer, 434-5060 
 
1.0 Purpose 
 

Community Colleges of Spokane promotes collegiality based on a belief in human rights and the 
dignity of each individual, therefore, students shall be provided an environment free from any 
form of discrimination or harassment directed to any individual or group on the basis of race, 
color, sex, religion, creed, age, marital status, national origin, sexual orientation, disability, or 
veteran status.  The purpose of this procedure is to establish the methods by which CCS will 
show reasonable care in the prevention of harassment and discrimination. 

 
2.0 Limitations and Requirements 
 

Discrimination on the basis of race, national or ethnic origin, creed, age, sex, marital status, 
veteran's status, sexual orientation, or disability is prohibited in conformity with federal and state 
laws.  Discrimination and harassment includes sexual or racial harassment which is defined as 
conduct that is: 

2.1 Sexually or racially motivated and has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering 
with a person's work or educational performance. 

2.2 Creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive environment. 

2.3 Conduct by any means that is sufficiently severe, pervasive, or persistent so as to 
threaten an individual or limit the individual’s ability to work, study, or participate in the 
activities of the college. 

3.0 Complaint Procedures 
 

Students or members of the public who feel they have been harassed by or discriminated against 
by an employee of CCS are encouraged to report that belief according administrative procedure 
#2.30.01-A, Prevention of Harassment and Discrimination within CCS, section 2.0. 

4.0 Complaint Investigation 
 

The Human Resources Office is solely authorized to consider complaints of harassment and 
discrimination and to investigate them for CCS.  All complaints, regardless of perceived merit or 
basis, are forwarded to the Human Resources Office for review and processing, without 
exception.  See administrative procedure #2.30.01-A, section 3.0, for additional information 
regarding investigations. 

5.0 Confidentiality and Non-retaliation 
 

5.1 To the extent possible, proceedings will be conducted in a discreet and sensitive manner.  
Anonymity and complete confidentiality cannot be guaranteed once a complaint is made 
or unlawful behavior is alleged.  Files pertaining to the complaint will be maintained in 
confidence to the fullest extent of the law.   

5.2 Retaliation by, for or against any participant (accused, accuser or witness) is expressly 
prohibited.  Any person who thinks he/she has been the victim of retaliation should 
contact the Chief Human Resources Officer immediately, 434-5040. 
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6.0 Rights of the Accused 
 

6.1 If a formal investigation is undertaken, the accused will be notified of the existence of the 
formal complaint and that an investigation of the complaint is underway.  During the 
investigative process the accused will be informed of his/her right to representation 
during any investigatory meeting. 

6.2 When the investigation is complete, to the extent appropriate, the complainant and 
accused will be informed of the results of the investigation in summary form. 

7.0 Corrective Action 
 

CCS will take appropriate corrective and/or disciplinary action in situations where it is proven or is 
reasonable to believe that harassment or discrimination took place.  Any action taken will follow 
the due process provisions of applicable contracts or state regulations and will be reasonably 
calculated to end harassing or discriminatory behavior and correct inappropriate behavior. 

8.0 Campus Contacts 
 

8.1 Spokane Community College 
 Associate Dean of Student Development, Bldg. 6 
 Dean of Student Services, Bldg. 15 
 Vice President of Student and Instructional Services, Bldg. 50 

 
8.2 Spokane Falls Community College 

 Office of the Associate Dean for Student Life, Bldg. 17, Rm 126 
 Office of the Chief Student Services Officer, Bldg. 17, Room 150 

8.3 Institute for Extended Learning 
 Office of the Dean of Student Services, Bldg. 9, Rm 109 
 Office of the Vice President of Learning, Bldg. 9, Rm 107 

8.4 Human Resources Office 
 501 N. Riverpoint Blvd, Suite 125 

Telephone: 434-5040 

9.0 Related Information 
 

9.1 Administrative Procedure #2.30.01-A, Prevention of Harassment and Discrimination 
within CCS 

9.2 Chapter 132Q-30 WAC, Standards of Conduct for Students 

 
 
 
 

Originated: November 2008 
Cabinet approval: January 12, 2009 
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CCS Administrative Procedure 
2.30.01 – A Prevention of Harassment and Discrimination within CCS 

 
Implementing Board Policy 2.30.01 
Contact:  Human Resources 

 
1.0 Harassment/Discrimination Prevention Procedure Objective (summary of Board of 

Trustees Policy 2.30.01) 
 

Workplace harassment and discrimination directed to any individual or group on the basis of race, 
color, sex, religion, creed, age, marital status, national origin, sexual orientation, disability and 
veteran status is a violation of the mission and purpose of the Community Colleges of Spokane 
as an institution of higher education and shall not be tolerated, and, pursuant to Board policy and 
this procedure, shall be prohibited. 

1.1 Prohibited harassment:   Prohibited harassment shall include, but will not be limited to 
verbal and written comments, slurs, jokes, innuendos, cartoons, pranks and any and all 
other physical or nonphysical conduct or activity that can be construed as derogatory, 
intimidating, hostile or offensive and which is directed at the victim because of his/her 
membership in, association with or presumption of membership or association with the 
following: race, color, sex, religion, creed, age, marital status, national origin, sexual 
orientation, disability, political affiliation and veteran status; or any behavior or action, 
either physical or verbal, which is sexual in nature and unwelcome, unwanted or 
uninvited. 

1.2 Prohibited discrimination:  Prohibited discrimination is an action taken on the basis of an 
individual’s membership in, association with or presumption of membership or 
association with the following: race, color, sex, religion, creed, age, marital status, 
national origin, sexual orientation, disability and veteran status, such action resulting in a 
tangible loss to an employee or student. 

1.3 Board policy is based on the principle that all forms of harassment and/or discrimination 
are unacceptable and will be dealt with promptly and effectively.  The purpose of this 
procedure is to establish the methods by which CCS will show reasonable care in the 
prevention of harassment and discrimination.  This may include, but will not be limited to 
the following: 

1.3.1 Have in place an effective harassment and discrimination prevention procedure 
that supports Board policy; 

1.3.2 Offer and communicate existence of flexible, accessible, and non-intimidating 
complaint procedures; 

1.3.3 Protect confidentiality to the extent possible under the law; 
1.3.4 Develop an investigative protocol aimed at prompt fact gathering without bias or 

subjectivity; 
1.3.5 Provide a disciplinary mechanism that is reasonably calculated to end harassing 

or discriminatory behavior and correct inappropriate behavior; 
1.3.6 Provide periodic training of supervisors and separate training for non-supervisory 

employees. 

2.0   Complaint Procedures 
 

Those employees who believe that they have been harassed and/or discriminated against in 
employment, or those students/members of the public who feel that they have been harassed by 
or discriminated against by an employee of the Community Colleges of Spokane, are encouraged 
to report that belief to CCS under this procedure’s complaint mechanism. 

 
2.1 Incident Notification Form:  CCS has developed an incident notification form on which 

any person may report complaints of harassment or discrimination, regardless of the 
complaint’s basis.  The form is made widely available and includes directions on how to 
complete and route.  The form also identifies the limits of confidentiality and the CCS 
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non-retaliation policy.  Any supervisor or administrator is authorized to accept and 
process the form, or it may be submitted directly to the Chief Human Resources Officer. 

 
2.2 Filing a Complaint:  Any employee or student who believes he/she has been subject to 

harassment/discrimination has the right to file a complaint.  Any supervisor or 
administrator is authorized to accept or take a complaint.  If the complainant does not feel 
comfortable with filing a written complaint, every effort will be made to take the complaint 
verbally.  The supervisor/administrator will then document the verbal complaint on the 
Incident Notification Form.  If the employee or student believes he/she is being harassed 
or discriminated against by a supervisor, administrator or employee he/she should notify 
the Chief Human Resources Officer. 

 
2.3 Complaint Consideration:  Although isolated incidents of harassment and discrimination 

may not violate federal or state law, such incidents may nevertheless create a knowing 
and willful course of conduct which seriously alarms, annoys, harasses or is detrimental 
to that person or the work environment, serves no legitimate or lawful purpose, or is in 
direct violation of Board values or the Chancellor’s directive regarding mutual respect.  
Such complaints will be taken seriously and considered under this procedure. 

 
3.0   Complaint Investigation 
 

The Human Resources Office is solely authorized to consider complaints of harassment and 
discrimination and to investigate them for all of CCS.  All complaints, regardless of the perceived 
merit or basis, are to be forwarded to the HR Office for review and processing, without exception. 

 

3.1   Investigation:  The Chief Human Resources Officer, or his/her designee, will assess the 
written complaint and determine the appropriate process necessary to ensure all relevant 
evidence is obtained and all critical elements are addressed.  This normally begins with 
an initial interview with the complainant/s.  The goal is to obtain sufficient information to 
determine the next step/s; which may include providing consultation, obtaining 
clarification, making referral and/or initiating a formal fact-finding investigation.  If a formal 
investigation is undertaken, the complainant/accused will be alerted to the existence of a 
formal complaint and that an investigation of the complaint is underway. 
3.1.1 Employees, as a condition of employment, are required to be truthful and to fully 

cooperate in the investigation process. 
 

3.2   Other Complaints:  Conduct covered by this policy and procedure are those actions that 
occur on the basis of an individual’s race, color, sex, religion, creed, age, marital status, 
national origin, sexual orientation, disability and veteran status or any unwelcome 
conduct of a sexual nature.  Complaints alleging conduct not covered by this policy and 
procedure will be remanded to the appropriate Vice President/Administrative Officer for 
consideration and investigation as a performance-based issue. 
3.2.1 Harassment or discrimination allegations based upon union activities are not 

included in this procedure, but covered by the various collective bargaining 
agreements between the Board of Trustees and its recognized employee 
representatives. 

 
3.3 Findings Report:  When the investigation is complete, to the extent appropriate, the 

complainant/accused will be informed of the results of the investigation in summary form.   
 
3.4 Records:  Copies of all complaints of harassment or discrimination, and records related to 

a subsequent formal investigation conducted pursuant to that complaint, if any, shall be 
maintained confidentially to the extent allowed by law for an indeterminate period of time 
in the Human Resources Office. 
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4.0 Confidentiality and Non-retaliation 
 

4.1 Confidentiality:  To the extent possible, proceedings will be conducted in a discreet and 
sensitive manner.  Anonymity and complete confidentiality cannot be guaranteed once a 
complaint is made or unlawful behavior is alleged.  Files pertaining to the complaints will 
be maintained in confidence to the fullest extent of the law.  CCS cannot guarantee 
complete confidentiality. 

 
4.2 Retaliation:  Retaliation by, for or against any participant (accused, accuser or witness) is 

expressly prohibited.  Retaliatory action of any kind taken against individuals as a result 
of seeking redress under the applicable procedures or serving as a witness in a 
subsequent investigation dealing with harassment/discrimination is prohibited.  Any 
person who thinks he/she has been the victim of retaliation should contact the Chief 
Human Resources Officer immediately. 

 
5.0 Rights of Accused 

 

5.1 Notice of Complaint:  If a formal investigation is undertaken, the accused will be alerted to 
the existence of a formal complaint and that an investigation of the complaint is 
underway.  During the investigative process, the accused will be informed of his/her right 
to representation during any investigatory meeting. 

 
5.2 Report of Findings:  When the investigation is complete, to the extent appropriate, the 

complainant/accused will be informed of the results of the investigation in summary form.   
 

5.3 Corrective Action:  CCS will take appropriate corrective and/or disciplinary action in 
situations where it is proven or is reasonable to believe that harassment or discrimination 
took place.  Any action taken will follow the due process provisions of applicable 
contracts or state regulations and will be reasonably calculated to end harassing or 
discriminatory behavior and correct inappropriate behavior. 

 
 
 

Originated: February 2002; Revised April 2005, December 2006 
Cabinet approval: December 2006 
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Community Colleges of Spokane provides equal opportunity in education and employment. 
Person(s) with a disability requiring any auxiliary aids or accommodations should contact the college.  For TTY service call 533-7482 

             REPORT IT!    

 
To report a hate crime or bias incident go to the website below or call 

Student Activities at 509-533-3553. 
www.tba 

 

1. Hate Hurts! 

 

A hate crime or bias incident is experienced or observed. 

 
 

2. Incident is Reported 

 

The reporting form is filled out online or in paper form. Forms and information about the 

reporting process may also be found throughout the campus and at these locations: 

 

Counseling Offices, VP and Deans’ Offices, Information Desk, Multicultural Student Center  

Student Activities, Campus Security 

 
 

3. Bias Incident Response Team (BIRT) 

 

Depending on the nature of the incident, the Bias Incident Response Team may involve 

the police, the V.P. of Student Services, and/or Campus Security to determine an 

appropriate course of action. 

 

 

4. Appropriate Response is Determined 

 

The Bias Incident Response Team Leaders will work with the appropriate organizations and 

other individuals to take action abiding by the following protocols: 

 

→ Listen to the person reporting  - Let them tell the story.  - Probe for details. – Clarify how 

the person wants the team to respond. 

 

 

5. Report/Community Response 

 

The course of action decided by the committee will be implemented. Members include 

faculty, staff, students and administrators who have participated in the "Stop the Hate" 

training. 

 

→ Determine if a district-wide response is needed. 

 

→ Implement community response if appropriate.   
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